108007-10



No. 68067-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

DIVISION I

SHANE and AMY WATTS,

Respondents,

v.

MARY DUNPHY and MARK DUNPHY,

Appellants.

BRIEF OF APPELLANT

Matthew F. Davis WSBA #20939 DEMCO LAW FIRM, P.S. 5224 Wilson Avenue South, Suite 200 Seattle, WA 98118 (206)203-6000

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR
III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR2
IV. FACTUAL BACKGROUND
V. LEGAL ANALYSIS12
A. Standard of Review12
B. Watt's Action Is Barred By Their Receipt of the Meeting Minutes
1. Fraudulent Concealment17
2. Fraud
C. The Court Should Award Attorney Fees to the Prevailing Party21
VI. CONCLUSION21

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Washington Cases

Alejandre v. Bull, 159 Wn.2d 674, 153 P.3d 864 (2007)
Carlile v. Harbour Homes, Inc., 147 Wn.App. 193, 204-205, 194 P.3d 280, 285 (2008)14
George E. Miller Lumber Co. v. Holden, 45 Wn.2d 237, 245, 273 P.2d 786, 790 (1954)
Happy Bunch, LLC v. Grandview North, LLC, 142 Wn.App. 81, 88, 173 P.3d 959, 963 (2007)13
Recreational Equipment, Inc. v. World Wrapps Northwest, Inc., 165 Wn.App. 553, 558, 266 P.3d 924, 927 (2011)
Renfro v. Kaur, 156 Wn.App. 655, 667, 235 P.3d 800, 805 (2010)20
Town Concrete Pipe of Washington, Inc. v. Redford, 43 Wn.App. 493, 502, 717 P.2d 1384, 1389 (1986)13
Court Rules
RAP 18.15

I. <u>INTRODUCTION</u>

Appellants Mark and Mary Dunphy ("Dunphy") sold their condominium to Shane and Amy Watts ("Watts") in 2007. In connection with the purchase, Watts received a Resale Certificate that included the homeowner association meeting minutes. In a bench trial, King County Superior Court Judge Dean Lum found that "the Watts did receive the Homeowner's Association meeting minutes and had the opportunity to read them, and in fact did read them enough to comment on the parking situation." CP 66 at ¶ u. The singular question presented in this appeal is whether the meeting minutes put Watts on inquiry notice of the defects as a matter of law, requiring that the judgment in their favor be reversed.

In 2007, the Supreme Court addressed similar circumstances in *Alejandre v. Bull*, 159 Wn.2d 674, 153 P.3d 864 (2007). In that case, the Supreme Court affirmed the trial court's dismissal of a jury trial for fraud and fraudulent concealment at the close of the plaintiff's case because the plaintiff was aware that an inspection of the septic system was incomplete, but did nothing to investigate. In this case, Watts received and read meeting minutes of the condo board discussing the very defects alleged here, but did nothing to investigate.

Judge Lum ruled: "Although the words 'defect', 'envelope studies', 'investigation', and 'defect attorney' were mentioned several

times, there is no context or explanation for the brief references buried in a maze of other irrelevant information." CP 68 at ¶ 3.4(5). Judge Lum's decision is contrary to the Supreme Court's holding in *Alejandre*, and this Court should reverse the judgment in favor of Watts and remand for entry of judgment in favor of Dunphy.

II. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

- The trial court erred when it made a finding of fact that the
 meeting minutes were "insufficient to put the Watts on
 notice that there were major problems with the complex in
 terms of missing WRB." CP 77 at ¶ v.
- 2. The trial court erred when it concluded as a matter of law that the meeting minutes did not put the Watts on inquiry notice of the defects in the condominium project. CP 79 at ¶3.4(5).
- 3. The trial court erred when it concluded that Watts had proven by clear, cogent and convincing evidence that Watts had the right to rely on the subject representations. CP 80 at ¶ 3.5(8).

III. ISSUES PERTAINING TO ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

 Does substantial evidence support the trial court's finding that the meeting minutes were "insufficient to put the Watts on notice that there were major problems with the complex in terms of missing WRB?" CP 77 at ¶ v. (First Assignment of Error).

- 2. Is the trial court's Finding of Fact that the meeting minutes were "insufficient to put the Watts on notice that there were major problems with the complex in terms of missing WRB" actually a Conclusion of Law? CP 79 at ¶ 5. (First Assignment of Error).
- Did the meeting minutes put the Watts on inquiry notice and bar their claims as a matter of law? (Second and Third Assignments of Error).

IV. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

Because the trial court's uncontested findings are treated as verities on appeal, this statement of facts is derived entirely from the Findings of Fact and the meeting minutes that were admitted as exhibits and referenced in the Findings and Conclusions.

In 2006, Mary Dunphy purchased a condominium at 13020 102nd Ln NE, #3, Kirkland WA98034. CP 75 at ¶ a. On July 27, 2006, Mary Dunphy became Vice President of the Kirkland Village Homeowner's Association. CP 75 at ¶ b.

In October 2006, Mary Dunphy arranged for an inspection of buildings in Kirkland Village by Darrel Hay. Mr. Hay checked three buildings and found that in all three buildings, there was no tar paper or weather resistant barrier (WRB). He opined that these were problems and that the lack of WRB would allow the buildings to be vulnerable to water leakage and damage, though at the time he did not note any specific damage. That report was provided to Mary Dunphy. She read the report. CP 75 at ¶ c.

In a Board meeting in February 2007, the Hay report was discussed by the Board. Mary Dunphy was present at all Board meetings, some of which were held in her home, through May 2007. CP 75 at ¶ d.

The Board decided to investigate further, in connection with its ongoing disputes with the developer, Center Bay. The Board hired a new property manager, Suhrco, who recommended a thorough inspection of the complex be done, in order to go back to the developer with a list of things that needed to be fixed. The lack of WRB was one of the issues to look at. CP 75 at ¶ e.

In February 2007, The Board asked a construction inspection firm, Corke Amento (CAI), to prepare a presentation for the Board. That was presented at the Board meeting in February 2007. In the same meeting, the Hay report was discussed by the Board. CP 75 at ¶ f.

On March 14, 2007, CAI prepared a "Scope of Limited Investigation, showing the plan for the complex inspection. It showed, among other things, that Mary Dunphy's unit would have the siding taken off. That proposal was circulated among the Board members, and Mary Dunphy read it. CP 75 at ¶ g.

In April 2007, the Board hired CAI to do the inspection. It was discussed and approved by the entire Board, including Mary Dunphy. Among the potential problems being looked at was the lack of WRB. CP 75 at ¶ h.

The inspection took place starting on May 1, 2007. The majority of the complex buildings had siding taken off, and showed that 75% or so of the buildings had WRB either missing or installed incorrectly. Mary Dunphy's unit had siding taken off and showed there was no WRB on her unit. Mary Dunphy saw that there was no WRB on her unit. CP 75 at ¶ i.

On May 4 2007, CAI, including Mark Cress, the CAI lead engineer; Steven Amento, CAI President; David Onsager, a defects attorney retained by the board to make recommendations as to legal action against Center Bay; Craig Cleaver, and Mary Dunphy met to walk through the complex and look at the buildings. Some portion of the buildings still had siding off, specifically so the board and the attorney could look at what was underneath the siding. The walkthrough showed there was no

WRB on the majority of the buildings. Mary Dunphy saw there was no WRB. CP 75-76 at \P k.

Mary Dunphy, as a member of the Board, who had been at the walkthrough, was aware that there were significant material problems with the missing WRB under the siding on the buildings throughout the complex. CP 76 at ¶ l. Mary Dunphy was aware that CAI would produce a report; and when the report was produced to the Board it would have to be disclosed to a potential buyer. CP 76 at ¶ m.

The next month, in June 2007, Mary and Mark Dunphy purchased a single family home in Juanita, for \$473,000. Mary Dunphy did not have the cash she needed to close the sale. The only way for her to close the sale, and move, was to sell her unit, at full market value, and close the sale. CP 76 at ¶ n.

The Watts signed a Purchase and Sale Agreement for the condominium. Along with that, Mary Dunphy provided a Real Property Disclosure Statement (Form 17.). The parties reached an agreement to purchase the unit for \$280,000 on July 23, 2007. CP 76 at ¶ o.

The Watts had a home inspection done by a home inspector. The inspector did not look under the siding, or inspect the rest of the complex. The inspection did not disclose any of the missing WRB on the Dunphy unit, or the missing WRB or the problems with the buildings in the rest of

the complex. The evidence was uncontroverted that a normal, routine home inspection of a condominium would not have uncovered any of the problems in the complex or the missing WRB in the Dunphy unit. The court found that the Watts did a reasonably diligent inspection of the property. CP 76 at \P q.

Mary Dunphy filled out two Form 17's, on July 9 and July 25. The court finds the buyers (the Watts) had a right to rely on Mary Dunphy's disclosures on the Form 17. The court also finds Mary Dunphy had a duty to fill the Form 17 out completely and correctly. The court finds the July 25 Form 17 is the Form that controls with respect to disclosures. CP 76 at ¶ o (second paragraph with same designation)

In the July 25 Form 17, in response to Question 1(G), "Is there any study ... that would affect the property", Mary Dunphy answered "Don't Know". This was a lie. Mary Dunphy knew about both the Darrell Hay inspection and the CAI inspection in May. The court in a summary judgment order found that Mary Dunphy lied when she answered this question. That order was not appealed and is the law of the case, as well. CP 76 at ¶ q.

In the July 25 Form 17, in response to Question 4(F), "Are there any defects with the following ... ", Mary Dunphy answered "No". This was a lie. She knew of the missing or wrongly installed WRB in multiple

buildings in the complex, including her own unit. She did not say material defects, but she represented that there were no defects in the siding, external, and the internal walls. There was no evidence that there was any defect in the siding itself, but there was a substantial question whether the lack of the vapor barrier or moisture barrier was a defect. There were clearly notices, studies, and oral reports well known to Ms. Dunphy that the moisture barrier did not exist, and that future damage was likely if something was not done. The fact that no damage might ever occur, or that the whole fix might be paid by the developer, does not mean there was no defect. CP 76-77 at ¶ r.

In the July 25 Form 17, in response to Question 10(A) "Are there any other existing material defects affecting the property that a prospective buyer should know about?", Mary Dunphy answered "Don't Know". This was a lie. She was well aware of the CAl inspection, the walk through, and the problems that Mark Cress had pointed out in the walkthrough on May 4 that she had attended. CP 77 at ¶ s.

These misstatements were intentional, and intended to mislead the Watts, in order to make sure the sale closed, for full price, and on time. CP 77 at \P t.

Mary Dunphy arranged for Suhrco, the property manager, to produce a Resale Certificate, along with a series of required documents. Those documents included a copy of the HOA Board Minutes for the past 6-12 months. Though testimony was conflicting, the court finds the Watts did receive the Homeowner's Association meeting minutes and had the opportunity to read them, and in fact did read them enough to comment on the parking situation. CP 77 at ¶ u.

The Minutes contain a list of all the issues the Board dealt with. In there, among the other issues, are mentions of inspections; envelope studies, Darrel Hay's report, etc. CP 77 at ¶ v. The meeting minutes were admitted as trial exhibit 3, excerpts of which are attached as Appendix I.

The first minutes are from February 13, 2007, which was the first meeting of the Board. Those minutes contain the following notations:

- 1. Envelop Study was discussed by Mark Cress; an overview of the independent inspection report by Darrell Hays was commented by Mark.
- 2. Mark Cress presented his findings with photo of the property which included siding, moisture barrier.

* * * *

5. David Onsager (another attorney) at Stafford Frie Law Firm was mentioned as another option.

Trial Exhibit 3 at February 13, 2007 Minutes.

The next meeting took place on March 13, 2007 and includes the notation: "3)Update on inspection. Deferred until next meeting, no response from Mark W. of Corke-Arnento." Trial Exhibit 3 at March 13, 2007 Minutes.

The ongoing inspection was again noted in the April 2007 minutes with the notation that: "Craig/Terry spoke to Corke Amento and we are moving ahead with the envelope/invasive inspection. Centerbay wanted to use their inspector, Craig declined that offer, but accepted the offer for Centerbay to pay 50% of the cost." Trial Exhibit 3 at April 2007 Minutes.

The moisture barrier issue itself was expressly mentioned in the minutes of the May 2007 meeting.

2) Discussion of Intrusive Study

- a. Need David Onsager to weigh in on the moisture barrier and whether or not there is significant damage.
- Waiting for results from Corke Amento and David Onsager.
- c. David Onsager will provide recommendation in the report
- d. Terry to call David's assistant in order to get the date the report will be ready

Trial Exhibit 3 at May 2007 Minutes.

On June 12, 2007, the association held its annual meeting of the unit owners. The minutes from that meeting indicate that the board was

trying to avoid a legal battle with the developer and the possibility of future assessments as a result of the ongoing envelope study.

Discussed envelope study and possible assessments. Informed that we are working with Centerbay and trying to resolve issues and working on not going into a legal battle.

IV. New Business (8:19 - 8:24)

- a. Inspection/Construction Defect
 - i. Corke Amento performing inspection1. Currently waiting for report
 - ii. Asked owners to inform board of any of defects or issues
 - iii. Timeline depends on cooperation of builder

Trial Exhibit 3 at June 12, 2007 Minutes.

The July 2007 meeting minutes reflect that Mary Dunphy had resigned from the Board. Trial Exhibit 3 at July 2007 Minutes. Those minutes reflect further developments in the dispute over building defects.

Bill from Corke Amento, inspectors for Envelope inspection came in at \$9350.03

We are holding Center Bay to their offer to pay for half of this inspection.

David Ansager defect Attorney has billed us 1792.00 for 5.6 hours of work.

Missing insulation is an issue the Board will be going after Center bay for.

Id.

After sale closed, the Watts found out about the problems with the condominium. The HOA sued the developer. That lawsuit has settled, for a little over a million dollars. The HOA also has a bankruptcy court Claim

against the developer's owner, which at the time of trial was still under way. The HOA has collected approximately 1.3 million dollars. No repairs have been started, and there is no plan on when they will be started. While there was testimony as to how much the repairs would cost, there was no definite plan on what would be done; how much it would cost. The court found that the future possible repairs to be too speculative to use in determining the effect on the current value of the unit. CP 77 at ¶ q. The court found that the current value of the unit, by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence, is \$132,000. CP 77 at ¶ r.

While the HOA has a substantial amount of money in the bank, there remain a few unanswered questions that do affect the value of the condo today. It may be that the stigma will be significantly reduced, if not eliminated, years into the future once the repairs are completed and paid for; but the issue is the fair market value now, not years into the future. CP 77 at ¶ r. In the present case, the court found that the plaintiffs established by clear, cogent, and convincing evidence that the condominium would have been worth a minimum of \$170,000. CP 78 at ¶ r.

12

V. <u>LEGAL ANALYSIS</u>

A. Standard of Review.

The standard of review in this case depends on the correct characterization of Judge Lum's determination that the meeting minutes were "insufficient to put the Watts on notice that there were major problems with the complex in terms of missing WRB. (CP 77 at ¶ v.). If it is treated as a finding of fact, then review is for substantial evidence. *Recreational Equipment, Inc. v. World Wrapps Northwest, Inc.*, 165 Wn.App. 553, 558, 266 P.3d 924, 927 (2011). However, a finding of fact that is actually a conclusion of law will be treated as such. *George E. Miller Lumber Co. v. Holden*, 45 Wn.2d 237, 245, 273 P.2d 786, 790 (1954); *Town Concrete Pipe of Washington, Inc. v. Redford*, 43 Wn.App. 493, 502, 717 P.2d 1384, 1389 (1986) ("Findings of fact that are conclusions of law are treated as such and will stand only if there are other findings of fact sufficient to support them.").

When the essential facts are undisputed, the legal consequence is a question of law. *Town Concrete Pipe of Washington, Inc. v. Redford*, 43 Wn.App. 493, 502, 717 P.2d 1384, 1389 (1986). Consequently, as this Court has said: "Where the relevant facts are undisputed and the parties dispute only the legal effect of those facts, the standard of review is also

de novo." Happy Bunch, LLC v. Grandview North, LLC, 142 Wn.App. 81, 88, 173 P.3d 959, 963 (2007).

The undisputed fact is that Watts received and read the association's meeting minutes before closing. Whether those minutes preclude Watts from proving the right to rely therefore presents a question of law that is reviewed *de novo*.

B. Watt's Action Is Barred By Their Receipt of the Meeting Minutes.

Judge Lum found Dunphy liable both for fraudulent concealment and for making an affirmative misrepresentation. The two claims have different elements. *Carlile v. Harbour Homes, Inc.*, 147 Wn.App. 193, 204-205, 194 P.3d 280, 285 (2008). Although the two claims are closely related, fraudulent concealment requires proof that the concealed defect could not have been discovered through the exercise of reasonable diligence, while fraud requires proof of the right to rely on the misrepresentation. *Id.*

This is one of those rare appeals that can be decided entirely on the basis of a single recent Supreme Court case, *Alejandre v. Bull*, 159 Wn.2d 674, 153 P.3d 864 (2007). For that reason, the facts and background of *Alejandre* are set forth here. *Alejandre* is particularly helpful because it was decided in the context of a motion for judgment as a matter of law at

the close of the plaintiff's case in a jury trial. In other words, *Alejandre* sets forth the law when viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the plaintiff.

"A motion for judgment as a matter of law must be granted 'when, viewing the evidence most favorable to the nonmoving party, the court can say, as a matter of law, there is no substantial evidence or reasonable inference to sustain a verdict for the nonmoving party." *Id.* (quoting *Sing v. John L. Scott, Inc.*, 134 Wash.2d 24, 29, 948 P.2d 816 (1997)). "Substantial evidence" is evidence that is sufficient "to persuade a fair-minded, rational person of the truth of a declared premise." *Davis*, 149 Wash.2d at 531, 70 P.3d 126 (quoting *Helman v. Sacred Heart Hosp.*, 62 Wash.2d 136, 147, 381 P.2d 605 (1963)).

Alejandre, 159 Wash.2d at 681.

Mary Bull ("Bull") owned a single family residence that was served by a septic system. The year before she put the house up for sale, Bull noticed soggy ground over the septic system. She hired Gary's Septic Tank Service to pump the tank and had Walt Johnson Septic Service perform some repairs. Shortly thereafter, she applied for a connection to the city sewer, but when she learned there was a \$5,000 hook-up fee, she abandoned the idea. *Id.* at 678.

Bull then placed her home on the market in June 2000. In September 2001, Bull and the Alejandres entered into an agreement for the sale of Ms. Bull's home to the Alejandres. The agreement required Bull to pump the septic system and contained a contingency for an inspection of the septic system. *Id.* at 678-79.

Walt's Septic Tank Service pumped the tank, and the Alejandres received a copy of the bill. The bill stated on it that the septic system's back baffle could not be inspected but there was "[n]o obvious malfunction of the system at time of work done." *Id.* at 679.

As in this case, Bull provided the Alejandres with a seller's disclosure statement. In it, she disclosed that the house had a septic tank system which was last pumped and last inspected in Fall 2000 and that "Walt Johnson Jr. replaced broken line between house and septic tank." She answered "no" to the inquiry whether there were any defects in operation of the septic system. *Id.* at 680.

A month after the sale closed, the Alejandres smelled an odor inside their home. They also heard "water gurgling like it was coming back up." They noticed a foul odor outside the home as well, which they believed came from the ground around the septic tank, which they said was soggy. By chance, they hired the same person that had pumped the system for Bull in 2000, and he informed them that he had told Bull that the drain fields were not working and that she needed to connect to the city's sewer system. That occurred immediately before Bull did apply to connect to the sewer and learned that it would cost \$5,000. *Id.* at 680.

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