68067-6



NO. 68067-6-I

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON DIVISION I

SHANE AND AMY WATTS,

Respondents,

v.

MARY DUNPHY AND MARK DUNPHY

Appellants

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

Craig Jonathan Hansen Hansen Law Group PS 12000 NE 8th ST. Ste 202 Bellevue WA 98005 V: 425-709-6762 Email: jhansen@hansenlaw.com

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

V. ARGUMENT

The initial question is whether the court's finding that the meeting minutes were insufficient to put the Watts on notice is a Finding of Fact or a Conclusion of Law.

The insufficiency of the Minutes is a question of fact. If this is a fact, then the Dunphys are arguing to the wrong court. Challenged findings of fact are reviewed under a substantial evidence standard, which requires that there be sufficient evidence in the record to persuade a reasonable person that a finding of fact is true. If substantial evidence supports a finding of fact, an appellate court should not substitute its judgment for that of the trial court. *Recreational Equipment, Inc. v. World Wrapps Northwest, Inc.* 165 Wash.App. 553, 558-559, 266 P.3d 924, 927 (Wash.App. Div. 1, 2011). Whether the evidence is sufficient to puts the Watts on inquiry notice is a question of fact.

The Dunphys argue that since they are not disputing the essential facts, the standard of review is de novo. This misreads *George E. Lumber Co. v. Holden*, 45 Wn.2d 237, 245, 273 P.2d 786 (1954). There the court stated that the trial court is not required to regard to every item of evidence; entering only ultimate findings of fact is sufficient. However, findings of fact which are really conclusions of law will be treated as conclusions of law and will stand if there are other findings of fact sufficient to support the conclusion. *George E. Lumber Co. v. Holden* at 245. In this case, we argue that even if the "insufficiency" is not a fact,

there is more than enough other evidence to support the conclusion of insufficiency.

An appellant cannot simply state a Finding of Fact is undisputed; therefore claim it is really is a Conclusion of Law; and therefore the standard of review is de novo. The very disputing that it is a Finding of Fact means that it is disputed.

The question here is whether the HOA Minutes were sufficient to put the Watts on notice of potential problems. This is not a black and white issue, as Appellants argue. It depends on what kind of purchasers the Watts were; what the "notice" actually consisted of; and whether, even if it was sufficient, a reasonable inquiry would have shown the problem. Here the court found against the Dunphys on all parts. These findings are clearly facts.

First, The Watts Were Inexperienced Home Buyers. In determining whether a purchaser was put on inquiry notice, the courts give substantial weight to the purchaser's experience. The court in *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Services of Washington, Inc.*, stated:

We give substantial weight to a purchaser's real estate investment experience when determining whether a purchaser had inquiry notice. *Compare Steward*, 51 Wash.App. at 513, 754 P.2d 150 (noting that the bona fide purchasers had little real estate investing experience at the time of the sale) and *Miebach v. Colasurdo*, 102 Wash.2d

170, 176, 685 P.2d 1074 (1984) (holding that the purchaser with 23 years of investment experience was not a bona fide purchaser). See *Albice v. Premier Mortg. Services of Washington, Inc.* 157 Wash.App. 912, 929-930, 239 P.3d 1148, 1157 (Wash.App. Div. 2,2010).

In this case, the Watts were first time home buyers. RP at 28. They had no experience in purchasing real estate, or condos in particular. They were unfamiliar with HOA Board meetings or the problems condo conversions face. RP at 303-312; 321-324; also Shane Watts' testimony, RP at 322-336. They also put a good deal of faith in what Mary Dunphy disclosed: they knew she was a realtor and trusted she knew what she was talking about. RP at 284. They testified that had they read the Minutes, they would not have known enough to pick out the real red flags from all the other issues and problems the Minutes showed. RP at 303-312; 321-324; also Shane Watts testimony, RP at 322-336. They had never read HOA minutes before. RP at 305.

They were at Dunphy's mercy, and she intentionally misled them.

She had even left helpful handwritten notes for them on the Form 17. RP at 300; <u>Trial Exhibit 16</u>, page 3. They felt if anyone knew about problems, she would know about them.

They exercised a reasonable amount of diligence. They went through the Form 17 line by line, and nothing in it was a red flag. RP at

286-289. They did not recall getting the minutes. They did testify if they had seen them, they would not have known there were problems with the WRB. RP at 303-312; 321-324; also Shane Watts' testimony, RP at 322-336. They got a homeowner's inspection. Everyone - Mark Cress, RP at 169-170, Jean LeTellier, RP at 34, even Mary Dunphy, RP at 413-414 - agreed the Watt's homeowner's inspection would **not** have shown the problems with the complex or the missing WRB on her unit.

Second, The Minutes Had Mentions Of Inspections Buried in A

Sea Of Other Problems. A look at the Minutes show while the words

"inspection", "defect attorney", etc. are in the minutes, there is no context or details to indicate that these items were any more serious than the other items.

For example, take the June 2007 Minutes. <u>Trial Exhibit 3, page</u>

15. June was a month after the inspection. If the results were a huge problem for the Board at this time, one would expect to see a lot of discussion about it. Instead, there are only four lines, Ex 3, page 20, out of three pages of minutes. Ex. 3, pages 19-21.

Because there was no prioritization in the Minutes, the Watts would have had to inquire as to everything. They had to ask what the landscaping problems were, and, because landscaping is mentioned in every meeting, ask to see the actual problem areas. (In June landscaping was a huge issue; it took up almost 25% of the Minutes.). Again, they needed to go into the parking problems; was that going to cause a problem? There were a host of minor issues as well. But from the space devoted to it in the Minutes, the envelope study and possible assessment were NOT major problems.

And this was for just one month worth of Minutes. They would have had to do the same thing, for all nine months; and do it within a couple of days, or they waived their inspection contingency. (It is true that they would have figured out quickly if "parking" was really a problem; but they would only know that if they investigated.) That is far more than can reasonably be asked of a normally prudent buyer.

This is entirely different from the notice in *Alejandre*, where the buyer had specific notice of a specific problem, noted on an inspection form, that was specifically about the buyer's prospective home. Alejandre, at the very least, had in her possession something that related directly - and only - to her house. It was not a few "bullet points" in a long list of "bullet points", none of which were specifically about her house, and none of which she had any warning to watch out for.

The *Alejandre* court imposed a limit on what investigation is required. *Alejandre* noted that the septic system was shallow and easily accessible. The court does not require a buyer to spend unreasonable amounts of time and money following up on every possible hint of a problem.

The purpose of the Minutes is also relevant. A Form 17 is designed to provide information about problems to potential buyers. Like any prudent buyer, the Watts went through it carefully. Unlike a Form17, the Minutes are informal records of meetings. Nothing helps a buyer filter out the noise in the Minutes. That is what the trial court found. The trial court was correct in finding intermittent mention of inspections, defects, etc., are not sufficient to put the Watts on notice.

Third, the court must find that if the Watts had conducted a reasonable inquiry, they would have found the problem. In this case, the weight of the evidence is that they would NOT have found the problems.

A circumstance that should lead a person to inquire provides notice only of what a reasonable inquiry would reveal. *Paganelli v. Swendson*, 50 Wash.2d at 309, 311 P.2d 676 (citing *Tjosevig v. Butler*, 180 Wash. 151, 159, 38 P.2d 1022 (1934)). See *Gold Creek North Ltd. Partnership v.*

Gold Creek Umbrella Ass'n, 143 Wash.App. 191, 203, 177 P.3d 201, 207 (Wash.App. Div. 2, 2008).

Inquiring about problems, in a condominium sale, where the seller is purposely misleading a buyer, is fundamentally different from the buyer's ability to inquire in *Alejandre*. There, the buyer could easily gain access to the septic system.

Here, the Watts could not have gotten an envelope study of their own done. The envelope study cost the HOA many thousands of dollars.

See Corke Amento Billing at Ex. 2. No HOA is going to agree to let a unit buyer take the siding off all of the buildings, even if they had wanted to and had the resources. That is not a "reasonable inquiry". They had to be able to get enough knowledge of what the inspection showed, to know the specific problems, so that they knew the risk.

The critical event is the May 4, 2007 walk through. Prior to that, but anyone asking about the inspection would have been told it was to compare the POS to reality; a normal thing for a Board to do. RP at 64.

That would not have been a red flag. It is on May 4 that the full extent of the damage became apparent - to the people at the walk-through.

Who, then, could the Watts have asked about the inspection results?

They could not ask Terry Hughes, the Suhrco property manager. Hughes (and Suhrco) were not managing the HOA in October 2006, Ex. 3, page 7, and did not even have copies of any of the inspections (October 2006 or May 2007) to show the Watts, at the time they would have asked. RP at 64. Neither Cress, Cleaver, or Dunphy testified anyone from Suhrco, including Terry Hughes, walked through with them, when Cress pointed out the problems. RP at 160-161. The Corke Amento billing does not list anyone from Suhrco. Ex. 2, page 13. There is no evidence that anyone from Suhrco walked through the complex with the Board on May 4, 2007. The most Suhcro could have told the Watts was that the envelope study was to compare the POS to reality, and that they did not have the results. RP at 64; 140. That is not a disclosure of the extent of the actual problems; it is not an actual inspection of a septic system.

The Watts could not ask Dunphy: it is undisputed that she had lied on both her Forms 17, and had no intention of telling them the truth.

They could not ask Mark Cress. He did not work for the HOA. RP at 140. Corke Amento would not have sent them the report: the final report was not done, and it had to be paid for before they released it to the HOA anyway. RP at 88, 131. Corke Amento would not have given it to a total stranger, or discussed it with them.

They could not have asked David Onsager. The HOA had not hired Onsager and never discussed the lawsuit with him. RP at 137. If the Watts had asked Cleaver about Onsager, presumably that's what he would have told them. And it is hard to believe Hughes or Cleaver would have discussed with the Watts what they talked about with a lawyer.

The Watts could not get any details from the other Board members either. They knew next to nothing. They had not been at the May 4 walk through. RP at 73. Cleaver testified the "Board" at the walkthrough was just him and Mary Dunphy. RP at 73; Exhibit 2 at page 13. The inspection was discussed with the Board at the May 8 meeting, Ex. 3, page 17; but Cleaver told them about the inspection only in generalities. RP at 75. Cleaver did not share the draft report with anyone on the Board. RP at 85, 87. It was not discussed in the June meeting; they were waiting for the final report. Ex. 3, page 20. There is strong evidence the rest of the Board did not know the inspection results. To find as a fact that the Board could or would have told the Watts about the extent of the problems is speculation, and a court may not base findings on speculation.

The Watts could have asked Craig Cleaver. But Cleaver was holding the inspection results very, very close to his vest. The HOA did not have the draft report. RP at 79, 81 He spent all of about three minutes

looking at the draft report. RP at 85. He did not even tell the Board about the draft report, RP at 85; it is unlikely in the extreme he would have told total strangers, like the Watts. It is also unlikely he would have bothered to even talk to them; he had no duty to talk to them at all, and he was working 100 hours a week at Microsoft, RP at 121. The evidence and all reasonable inferences derived from the evidence is that he would not have told them of the problems.

Craig Cleaver characterized the inspection, as far his planning was concerned, a normal part of the transition. RP at 64. He testified that in the walkthrough on May 4, he wanted to get an idea of the work, RP at 74, but mostly they talked in generalities. RP at 75. There were things they needed to look at, RP at 74; but in terms of his concerns as the HOA President at that time (May-July 2007), he was much more worried at the time about parking and landscaping. RP at 136. Telling the Watts about the parking and landscaping would not have been a red flag for the inspection results.

The only person the Watts could have talked to, who had knowledge of the results, was Cleaver. But this is a critical difference between *Alejandre* and this case. In *Alejandre* the buyer could have inspected the septic system. They did not have to figure out which septic system to inspect; they did not have to hope the septic system called them

back, or answered their email. To define a "reasonably prudent investigation" as meaning a buyer has to make someone talk to them, who has no duty to them and does not know them, is not reasonable.

Had the Watts actually, somehow, keyed in on the various "inspection" mentions, it is more than clear, from the evidence, that they would NOT have been able to find out about the problems. There is **no** evidence that they had any real way to get the inspection results. This is a factual finding.

Any "notice" contained in the HOA Minutes is factually distinguished from the notice in *Alejandre*. In *Alejandre*, again, there was one home. The buyer had been told earlier the septic system had had a problem. The homeowner had the septic system inspected, for that home specifically. The buyer was provided records of a septic tank report that said their tank could not be inspected. But it was just one home, theirs; it was one septic tank, belonging to their home; they knew there was potential problem with their home alone.

In this case, the Minutes did not mention at all the severity of the problem or the inspection results. It was not sufficient just to say there had been inspections, because the Watts had no access to the results, and

without the results they did not know of the problems. This is clearly a fact.

- . . ^

The Watts had a right to reply on Dunphy's false Form 17; the court was right to find fraud.

As an initial matter, the Dunphys cite no case or statute for the proposition that the Watts had no right to rely on Dunphy's Form 17. That is, after all, what the form is for.

Dunphys do argue that the right to rely is tied to the Watts' diligence regarding the information they had; and they did not exercise reasonable diligence. That is simply factually incorrect.

Again, the factual situation here is substantially different than in Alejandre. The entire Alejandre analysis involves disclosure of defects, by the seller, either by the Form 17 or by giving them a copy of the septic system report, to the buyer. Nothing in Alejandre requires a buyer to investigate information from other sources NOT provided by the seller.

The HOA Minutes are provided by the HOA, not the seller. They are not maintained or produced by the seller. They have no relationship to the seller's requirement to disclose defects. Mary Dunphy has no right to rely on the Minutes to disclose what she purposely lied about.

CONCLUSION

The Watts were diligent in inspecting their home, based on the two false Forms 17 Dunphy had provided. Nothing in the Minutes put them on inquiry notice. There was nothing else they could have done, even

assuming they had asked.

The Watts had a right to rely on Dunphy's disclosures. She purposely lied to them. They exercised all the diligence they could or that the court can expect. *Alejandre* does not require a buyer to find a needle in a haystack - when the seller has purposely hidden the fact the needle even exists.

The court should award attorney fees. The trial court awarded attorney fees to the Watts as the prevailing party, and under the purchase and sale agreement. We would ask the appellate court to award the Watts their fees for this appeal.